

GOOD FOOD IMPACT HUB PROCESS & METHODOLOGIES

CONTENTS

Introduction

Impact Calculators

General Process

Calculator Inputs: User Selections and Institutional Procurement Data

Local Jobs and Wages Calculator

Greenhouse Gas and Water Footprint Calculator

Pesticide Application Calculator

Health Risks & Healthcare Costs Calculator

Impact Statistics

Valued Workforce

Animal Welfare

Equity, Accountability, and Transparency

Real-World Examples

Choosing the Regions

Regional Definitions

Data Maps

Regional Definitions

Estimated Regional Public Food Spend and Impacts

Appendix

A. Acknowledgements

B. Bibliography and Other Resources



INTRODUCTION

This document provides the process and methodologies used for the impact calculators, impact statistics, and estimations of impacts of food purchasing shifts in the real-world examples on the Good Food Impact Hub.

IMPACT CALCULATORS

General Process

The calculators model the impacts of general strategies that public institutions like schools, hospitals, and jails can implement to increase their values-based food procurement. These are impacts that policymakers have expressed as their top priorities over the past several years and that are feasible to quantify based on existing research. We use current studies and methods; interviews with policymakers, researchers, scientists, and experts in their fields; and the Center for Good Food Purchasing's data on how public institutions are spending their food dollars to develop the methodologies for calculating impacts. For a complete list of resources, studies, and the experts we engaged, refer to the Appendix.

The Center for Good Food Purchasing works with municipalities and institutions nationwide to collect data on all food purchases made by those institutions and their vendors. Those purchases are analyzed to determine alignment with the Good Food Purchasing values of local economies, environmental sustainability, valued workforce, animal welfare, and nutrition. This data, in aggregate, is used within model calculations to represent the types and quantities of food products an institution purchases. Institutional procurement data is combined with available literature, studies, and methods to develop models on institutional purchasing impacts.

Because modeling encompasses assumptions and generalities, we show conservative estimates where assumptions need to be made. As more research and methodologies emerge, we will have an opportunity to update the calculators.



Calculator Inputs: User Selections and Institutional Procurement Data

To provide an estimated food budget based on population, we use the average population of the cities for institutions enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program and their average food budget to derive an average dollar spend per person. This average is extrapolated to the population size.

For the Greenhouse Gas and Water Footprint, Pesticide Application, and Health Risks & Healthcare Costs calculators, we convert food purchase dollars to weight using an average spend to weight ratio (based on institutional food purchase data collected by the Center for Good Food Purchasing) for all the institutions enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program.

Good Food Purchasing Program data is based on Fiscal/School Year 2019 food purchases; where 2019 data is unavailable, 2018 purchases are used.

Local Jobs and Wages Calculator

User Inputs and Strategies

The strategy in this calculator shifts the portion of an institution's total food purchases spent on local foods. The user can choose the percentage by which they would like to increase their local spend. Local is defined as food produced within a 250-mile (or 500-mile for meat) radius of the region.

Jobs and Wages Per Dollar of Spend by Industry Sector and Location

Calculated jobs represent the number of food-related jobs estimated to occur in a given locality (within 250 miles of a region). The calculated wages are the estimated salaries or pay associated with those jobs. The estimate for jobs and related wages, per dollar of food spend, is calculated as a ratio of jobs to gross domestic product (GDP) and ratio of wages to GDP. Each ratio is calculated by industry sector and production location (e.g., jobs and wages attributable to one dollar spent on chicken produced in Los Angeles.)

First, we assign industry sectors to food purchases. Industry sectors are in accordance with the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017) at the 6-digit industry code level (e.g., 111110 Soybean Farming). The 6-digit industry codes used



represent industry sectors from which institutions in the Good Food Purchasing Program purchase foods.¹

Next, we identify the number of jobs, associated wages, and GDP for each industry where the food was produced.² Employment and wages data for each 6-digit industry code are taken from the Bureau of Labor Statistics' Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (BLS QCEW) (2018). Gross domestic product, which corresponds to food spend in the model, is derived by industry from the Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA).³

BEA data provides GDP by location and at the 2-digit NAICS industry code level (e.g., Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting). To estimate each location's GDP at the 6-digit industry code level, we determine the proportion of wages to that location's GDP at the 2-digit industry code level and apply that proportion to wages at the 6-digit industry level.⁴

For example, a 2-digit industry code with \$10 million in wages and \$50 million in GDP for a particular location would result in \$1 in wages for \$5 in GDP in that location (or \$0.2 wages per \$1 GDP). If the sub-sector 6-digit industry code has \$1 million in wages, this would create an estimated GDP of \$5 million at the 6-digit industry code level in that location.

Jobs and Wages Related to Institutional Food Purchasing

Once we determine the job and wages ratios for all 6-digit industry sectors and locations represented by Good Food Purchasing Program institutional purchasing data, we multiply the jobs or wages ratios for each industry sector and location with the corresponding institutional purchases to determine attributable jobs and wages.

Then, we aggregate all attributable jobs and related wages associated with local food purchases. The aggregate nationwide jobs and wages are representative of many regions across the country.

¹ Good Food Purchasing Program data is based on Fiscal/School Year 2019 food purchases; where 2019 data is unavailable, 2018 purchases are used.

 $^{^{\}mathrm{2}}$ We determine the state of the production location and use the corresponding state-level BLS QCEW data.

³ The job and wage ratio calculations use BLS and BEA data at the state-level. While BLS/BEA data is available at the county level, state-level data is more available and less affected by data suppression (data may be suppressed to protect suppliers' confidentiality). When data is missing, we use a catchall labor ratio calculated as the weighted sum of all available labor ratios for a food category. The catchall labor ratio does not account for regional differences in institutional purchasing; we apply the weights based on the overall distribution of purchases across all institutions and regions.

⁴ We assume that GDP output is approximately proportional to wages and that this correlation will be stronger for NAICS codes that fall under a parent NAICS (i.e., 2-digit level) than those across different sectors. We use wages rather than jobs in estimating GDP because wages are more likely to be proportionate to GDP. See Assumptions and Limitations for details.



After that, we calculate a multiplier for jobs and and a multiplier for wages per dollar of institutional food spend (by dividing the aggregate attributable jobs and wages by the aggregate food purchases). These multipliers are used to model the labor impact (in jobs and related wages) for a given food budget.

Limitations and Assumptions

- The model assumes a linear relationship between wages and the output of any given sector of the economy. This does not reflect all situations, especially in sectors where there are large economies of scale (e.g., animal meat production). However, because of limitations in the data available, we consider this a reasonable assumption.
- The model assumes that purchasing operates within a perfectly elastic economy. As purchasing increases, supply (i.e., labor) will increase accordingly.
- Calculated jobs and wages impacts for any given region are assumed to follow the nationwide jobs and wages factors calculated from Good Food Purchasing Program institutional food purchase data.

Greenhouse Gas and Water Footprint Calculator

User Inputs and Strategies

The strategies in this calculator include replacing animal proteins with plant proteins to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and water use. "Meat and egg purchases" include beef, chicken, pork, turkey, and eggs; "dairy purchases" include butter, cheese, cow's milk, and yogurt.

Conversion of Food Purchase Dollars to Weight

We convert food purchase dollars to weight using the average spend to weight ratio for all the institutions enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program.⁵ For strategies that affect multiple food categories (e.g., "meat and eggs" and dairy), the proportionate weights of each food category are based on the average purchases of institutions enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program, using a "basket" approach to reflect food products typically purchased by institutions.⁶

⁵ Good Food Purchasing Program data is based on Fiscal/School Year 2019 food purchases; where 2019 data is unavailable, 2018 purchases are used.

⁶ Good Food Purchasing Program data is based on Fiscal/School Year 2019 food purchases; where 2019 data is unavailable, 2018 purchases are used.



For example, if institutions on average spend five percent of their total food spend on chicken meat and three percent on beef, the calculation for a 100-pound (lb) reduction in meat would include a reduction of five pounds (lb) of chicken meat and three pounds (lb) of beef.

Calculation of Replacement Amount

To calculate the impact of decreasing animal product purchases, replacement plant proteins are substituted. The replacement amount is a percentage decrease of current purchases of beef, meat and eggs, or dairy products (and does not represent an absolute value percentage of total food spend). For example, for a food spend of \$37 million and a replacement of beef of 20%, the calculation is:

Current spending on beef: 2.5% of total, or \$925,000

Replacement: 20% of \$925,000, or \$185,000 (equivalent to 220,000 lb)

The calculator shows the estimated net CO₂ equivalent emissions and water use reduction for \$185,000 (220,000 lb) of beef purchases, offset by the CO₂ equivalent emissions and water use from the replacement plant proteins.

GHG Emissions and Water Use

The greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reductions and water use reductions are the differences between the GHG emissions and water use of the reduced food category (e.g., beef, meat and eggs, dairy) and the replacement plant proteins (e.g., beans, pulses, and tofu). The replacement plant proteins are based on the most common lower-impact plant proteins that institutions purchase; using these food categories for calculations is common practice per the subject matter experts consulted. The replacement assumes an equal substitution by weight.

For example, if a user selects the strategy to replace beef purchases with plant proteins and inputs a food spend corresponding to 50 pounds (lb) of beef purchases, the calculator results show the net decrease in GHG emissions and water use for 50 pounds (lb) of beef, after accounting for the increase in GHG emissions and water use for 50 pounds (lb) of beans, pulses, and tofu.

The GHG emissions reported by the calculator are the product of multiplying the food weight by the GHG emissions factor for the food category (Poore & Nemecek, 2018; North American GHG



emissions obtained through World Research Institute's Cool Food Pledge Calculator). This factor includes food-related emissions along the total supply chain (feed, farm, processing, transport, packaging, and losses) for North America. Water use reported by the calculator is the product of multiplying the food weight by the water use factor for the food category (Poore & Nemecek, 2018). This factor includes food-related freshwater withdrawals ("irrigation withdrawals embedded in feed; drinking water for livestock; water for aquaculture ponds; and processing water") for North America. Where North American factors are unavailable, global factors are used.

Conversion to Passenger Vehicles and Household Water Needs

To help users understand the impact of greenhouse gas and water use reduction, "social math" is used to frame the impacts in more relatable units, such as cars on the road or households using water. The greenhouse gas emissions equivalent uses the passenger vehicles per year calculation from the EPA Greenhouse Gases Equivalencies Calculator (US EPA). The water use equivalent uses the household indoor water consumption conversion factor from the Water Research Foundation report Residential End Uses of Water, Version 2 (2016).

Limitations and Assumptions

- The model assumes a reduction in purchasing a certain category of food leads directly to a reduction in production (i.e., a closed system).
- The model assumes that institutions will replace a meat, egg, or dairy purchase with plant proteins (beans and pulses, or tofu) of equal weight.
- For strategies that include reducing multiple food products, the model assumes that institutions will reduce their purchasing of each food product by the same percentage.

Pesticide Application Calculator

User Inputs and Strategies

The strategies in this calculator include replacing purchases of conventionally grown produce with produce that is grown without the use of pesticides, such as USDA certified Organic products. To determine the impacts of shifting produce purchases towards items that are grown without pesticide use, a user may choose to either focus on apple purchases (the most commonly purchased produce item for institutions), focus on five items (broccoli,



corn, oranges, peaches, pears), or choose to shift 20 items (apples, broccoli, carrots, celery, corn, cucumbers, grapes, kale, lettuce, nectarines, onions, oranges, peaches, pears, potatoes, spinach, squash, strawberries, tangerines, and tomatoes). These items are commonly purchased by institutions and associated with high-risk pesticides.

Converting spend to weight

We convert food purchase dollars to weight using the average spend to weight ratio for all the institutions enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program. For any strategy to replace more than one category of food (i.e., five items, twenty items), the proportionate weights of each food category are based on the average purchases of institutions enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program (as described further in the Greenhouse Gas and Water Footprint Calculator section).

Pesticide Load

To determine pesticide load, we begin by using the Center for Good Food Purchasing's institutional purchasing data to identify the top 20 produce items purchased by institutions (by spend and weight) that are typically grown domestically. Our next step is to identify Category 1B pesticides from the Whole Foods Responsibly Grown list that are applied to these 20 items (Whole Foods, 2017). Despite the public-facing version of the Whole Foods Responsibly Grown program being discontinued, the list was confirmed to be accurate and relevant by the IPM Institute of North America (IPM). Category 1B pesticides are defined as high-risk pesticides including all organophosphate and N-methyl carbamate pesticides, which have a harmful effect on children born to mothers exposed to these pesticides. These active ingredients are also toxic to beneficial organisms such as pollinators (Whole Foods, 2017).

We then use USDA National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS) data to determine the pesticide application rate for each of these 20 items, which includes the relevant average pounds of pesticides applied per acre per year (USDA NASS, 2019). USDA NASS data is used because it represents production across multiple states, corresponding to the Center for Good Food Purchasing's national dataset. Using USDA NASS data, we calculate the average yield (pound per acre) of product grown for each produce item. We use the pesticide



application rate and yield to estimate the pounds of pesticides applied per pound of conventionally grown product.

Conversion to Football Fields

To help users understand the impact of reduced pesticide use, farm acres are translated to a more recognizable unit: An American football field. There are 1.32 acres in a football field,⁷ and the metric demonstrates the total farmland in number of football field equivalents impacted by decreased pesticide use.

Limitations and Assumptions:

While pesticide application rate is the most precise impact measure available in public datasets, it does not account for the agroecological nuances that accompany specific application usages. For example, targeted amounts of certain pesticides can have a lesser negative environmental impact than broad spectrum or calendar applications of other pesticides. We encourage users to visit IPM's Pesticide Risk Assessment Tool for the most precise indicator of toxicity exposure.

Health Risks & Healthcare Costs Calculator

User Inputs and Strategies

The strategies in this calculator include changing the amount of food products purchased to reduce adverse health outcomes and subsequent healthcare costs. The user can choose to increase purchases of fruits and vegetables, increase purchases of whole grains, or decrease purchases of processed meat. "Processed meat" purchases include red meat that is altered from its whole state by processes like smoking, salting, curing, or adding chemical enhancers or preservatives.

Converting spend to weight

We convert food purchase dollars to weight using the average spend to weight ratio for all the institutions enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program. For any strategy to replace more than one category of food (e.g., fruits and vegetables), the proportionate weights of each food category are based on the average purchases of institutions enrolled in the Good Food

⁷ Per <u>NFL Rule 1</u>, a field is 360 feet long by 160 feet wide, or 57,000 square feet (1.32 acres).



Purchasing Program (as described further in the Greenhouse Gas and Water Footprint Calculator section).

Relative Risk Ratios

The health and nutrition model estimates the change in risk of disease, health event, or associated healthcare cost based on changing the servings of different food types. Relative risk ratios from Clark et al. (2019) report the risk of a health outcome resulting from consumption of an additional serving of food per day relative to the average intake of that food.

Calculation of Replacement Amount

The change in spend on processed meat, fruits and vegetables, or whole grains assumes that the total overall food spend is unchanged. For example, for a food spend of \$37 million and a decrease in processed meat of 50%, the calculation is:

Current spending on processed meat: 4.7% of total, or \$1.7 M

Replacement: 50% of \$1.7M, or \$870,000 (equivalent to 583,000 lb)

The calculator shows the estimated health impacts related to the daily servings decrease for \$870,000 (583,000 lb) of processed meat purchases.

Health risks and associated healthcare costs

Based on institutional food purchase data collected by the Center for Good Food Purchasing, the total daily servings of food purchased by product category (e.g., fruits, vegetables, red meat, whole grains) is divided by the total number of individuals consuming food from an institution to estimate total daily consumed servings for individuals served. Using the relative risk ratios, we estimate the risk of all-cause mortality and the cumulative risk of four chronic diseases or health events (coronary heart disease, colorectal cancer, diabetes, and stroke) related to the daily servings of each food product per individual. Based on a change in products purchased, we estimate a relative risk of health outcomes that would occur due to the change in servings of that food product. For data based on serving K-12 students, we apply a 35% reduction to the risk factor, accounting for the fact that an estimated 35% of childhood eating habits persist into adulthood (Rosettie et al., 2018).



As a calculation example, increasing the percentage of fruits and vegetables purchased by a factor of 50% could result in a decrease of approximately 2.5% in chronic disease risk (cumulative risk of coronary heart disease, colorectal cancer, diabetes, and stroke). To calculate associated annual healthcare costs averted, number of new cases of disease in the target population is calculated based on Relative Risk and national disease/health event incidence; the number of new cases is applied to determine the number of cases of disease or health event averted. The number of averted cases is multiplied by the average annual cost per disease or health event (Waters & Graf, 2018) to calculate the estimated annual healthcare costs savings.

Limitations and Assumptions:

- All food purchased is consumed by the population the institution serves. We do not
 account for the proportion of food not consumed because of food waste or other factors.
- Purchasing data and servings are calculated based on institutions where figures on population served is readily available, such as schools.
- Relative Risk ratios are based on health outcomes in adult populations, and the model includes a high percentage of children and adolescents from K-12 school districts enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program. Because chronic disease and health events related to food consumption generally do not present themselves until years down the line, we use conservative estimates of long-term relative risk for children's food consumption (35% of the total adult relative risk) from Rosettie et. al (2018).
- Relative Risk ratios from Clark et al. are based on increasing consumption of a food by
 one serving. They do not account for multiple serving changes or decreased consumption
 of a food. For this model, we assume that a decrease in processed meat consumption will
 have the inverse effect that an increase of the same magnitude would have.

IMPACT STATISTICS

Valued Workforce

This calculation estimates the impact that a 40% increase in farm-workers wages could have on annual institutional fruit and vegetable expenditures, leveraging methodology developed



for a consumer price increase (EPI, 2020) and adapting this model to the institutional setting.

First, we determine the average institutional spend on fruits and vegetables for institutions that participate in the Good Food Purchasing Program. We assume that institutions purchase produce from wholesalers, and based on that assumption, we find the farmers' share of wholesale prices (i.e., the amount that farmers get for every dollar of fruits & vegetables institutions spend on wholesalers) using the USDA Economic Research Services (ERS) farm-to-consumer price spread and the average retailers' mark-up on wholesale prices (Hayut, 2013). We further find farm-workers' share of farmers' revenue using the ERS Farm Labor Statistics (2019). Based on these inputs, and using a 40% pay increase for farm-workers, we determine the price impact to institutions and the pay impact to workers relative to the living wage, per MIT's Living Wage Calculator (2020).

Animal Welfare

To calculate the impact of all K-12 public schools adopting one vegetarian food service day per week, we use The Darwin Challenge multipliers that describe the amount of beef and chicken an average OECD member consumes per day (The Darwin Challenge). We also find the number of public K-12 students that participate in the National School Lunch Program (assuming that this number equals the number of students eligible for free or reduced-price lunch) (National Center for Education Statistics). With an average of 180 school days per year, or 36 vegetarian days per year (given the stated one vegetarian day a week strategy), we are able to calculate the total number of cows and chickens that would not be consumed per year if all K-12 public schools participate in one vegetarian day per week.

Equity, Accountability, and Transparency

Box 1

One of the ways for institutions to support Good Food Purchasing values is through sourcing from unionized suppliers. The Center for American Progress (CAP) (2021) shows the impacts that better pay and benefits, through unions, can have in closing the racial wealth gap. The Center for American Progress demonstrates that median household wealth by race and



ethnicity increases for all union households,⁸ and that the wealth gap between the less wealthy groups (Black, Hispanic, and Other races⁹) and White decreases with union membership. Wealth of each group as a percentage of the wealthiest group is calculated based on the amounts shown in Figure 2 of CAP's analysis.

Box 2

The Good Food Purchasing Program leverages the power of institutional procurement (or public food contracting) to create an equitable, transparent, and values-based food system. The National Equity Atlas (2021) shows the disparities nationwide between the number of people of color, the number of small businesses owned by people of color, and the number of public contracts (based on federal contracts) going to businesses owned by people of color, demonstrating the potential and opportunity for equitable economic development through public contracts.

REAL-WORLD EXAMPLES

Choosing the Regions

Regions featured as real-world examples were selected to provide a diversity of examples, both geographically as well as level of involvement in the Good Food Purchasing Program. While some regions, such as Los Angeles and the Bay Area, have been involved in Good Food Purchasing for many years, others, such as Denver and Alachua County, are in the beginning stages of involvement.

We plan to add and update information as progress is made throughout these regions and new regions' involvement in Good Food Purchasing advances.

Please refer to <u>Appendix A. Acknowledgements</u> for the regional partners who generously contributed photos, statements, input, and their review to the real-world examples.

⁸ A union household means that either the head of the household or spouse is covered by a union contract.

⁹ "Other races" include individuals "who do not solely identify as white, Black or African American, or nonwhite Latino or Hispanic, resulting in a diverse group that also includes Asian, American Indian, Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian, Pacific Islander, and other race or ethnicity, as well as multiple race or ethnicity families. Despite the diverse universe of experiences in this category, the Federal Reserve must combine these households into one group due to sample size limitations before releasing their datasets to the public."



Regional Definitions

Austin: City of Austin in Texas

Chicago, Cook County: City of Chicago and Cook County in Illinois

Denver: City and County of Denver in Colorado

Gainesville, Alachua County: City of Gainesville and Alachua County in Florida

Los Angeles: City of Los Angeles in California New York City: City of New York in New York

San Francisco Bay Area: Counties of Alameda and Contra Costa and the City and County of

San Francisco in California

Washington, D.C.: District of Columbia

Data Maps

The maps on the regional pages show purchasing data from institutions enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program whose data have been collected and analyzed as of July 2022. Some regions' maps show no purchasing data, implying that data has only been collected for one institution in the region, and thus aggregated data across institutions is not yet available.

Regional Profiles

Population, Race Demographics, and Poverty Rate

Estimates are sourced from 2019 <u>United States Census Bureau</u> data and <u>ACS 1-year</u> <u>Estimates</u>.

Free and Reduced Lunch Rates

All school districts included on regional pages are enrolled in the Good Food Purchasing Program. Free and Reduced Lunch Rates are highlighted to show the percentage of school-age children who utilize publicly-funded school food.

 Austin: Austin Independent School District - provided by Lindsey Bradley at Austin Independent School District



- Chicago, Cook County: <u>Chicago Public Schools</u>
- Denver: <u>Denver Public Schools</u>
- Gainesville, Alachua County: <u>Alachua County Public Schools</u>
- Los Angeles: Los Angeles Unified School District
- New York City: <u>New York City Public Schools</u>
- San Francisco Bay Area: <u>Berkeley Unified School District</u>; <u>San Francisco Unified School District</u>; <u>Oakland Unified School District</u>; <u>West Contra Costa Unified School District</u>
- Washington, D.C.: <u>D.C. Public Schools</u>

Estimated Regional Public Food Spend and Impacts

Regional impacts are estimated using the Impact Hub impact calculators, selected to align with priorities as listed in Good Food Purchasing resolutions or ordinances, strategic plans, and other related policies and plans, where applicable.

Calculator projections are based on the regional "Estimated Public Food Spend." With the exception of Chicago, Cook County and New York City, each region's "Estimated Public Food Spend" is derived using the Census-reported population and the impact calculators' derived average cost per person (see the <u>General Process</u> section). Chicago and Cook County's Estimated Public Food Spend is the sum of the City of Chicago's and Cook County's estimated food spend, as reported by the Chicago Food Policy Action Council. New York City's Estimated Public Food Spend is reported by New York City Mayor's Office of Food Policy.

Impacts for each region are calculated using the Local Jobs and Wages, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Pesticide Application, and Health Risks & Healthcare Costs calculators. The strategies selected to calculate regional impacts are as follows:

- Local Jobs and Wages: Increase local food spend by 30%.
- Greenhouse Gas and Water Footprint: Replace all meat and egg purchases with plant proteins.
- Pesticide Application: Replace five conventional produce items with organic.
- Health Risks and Healthcare Costs: Increase fruit and vegetable purchases by 30%.



APPENDIX A: ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Consultant Partners

We thank our partners for leading the literature review and analytic model development for the impact calculators and for reviewing our methodologies in this document:

- Institute for People, Place and Possibility
- Seabourne Consulting

Subject Matter Experts

To develop the analytic model, in addition to drawing on the experience of the Center for Good Food Purchasing team, we conducted interviews with the following Subject Matter Experts to gather feedback on our proposed methodologies and to surface questions and additional research priorities. We thank the following individuals for sharing their knowledge with us:

- Ariel Larson, IPM Institute of North America
- Becca Jablonski, Colorado State University, College of Agricultural Sciences
- Bob Martin, Johns Hopkins Center for a Livable Future
- Chris Benner, University of California Santa Cruz, Everett Program for Technology and Social Change
- David Conner, University of Vermont, College of Agriculture and Life Sciences
- Dana Gunders, ReFed
- Dr. Dariush Mozaffarian, Tufts University, Tufts Friedman School of Nutrition Science and Policy and Tufts Medical School
- Dawn King, Brown University, Institute at Brown for Environment & Society
- Jonathan Kaplan, Compass Group, Global Sustainability
- Julian Kraus-Polk, Drawdown Labs
- Kari Hamerschlag, Friends of the Earth
- Kristine Madsen, Berkeley Food Institute
- Nina F Ichikawa, Berkeley Food Institute



- Peter Werts, IPM Institute of North America
- Ricardo Salvador, Union of Concerned Scientists, Food & Environment Program
- Sarah Reinhardt, Union of Concerned Scientists, Food & Environment Program
- Wendi Gosliner, Nutrition Policy Institute at the University of California

Partner Contributions to Regional Pages

We thank our local partners for reviewing and providing feedback on the good food work featured in the Real-World Examples and for providing photos of good food work in their regions.

- Austin
 - Austin Independent School District Caroline Juarez, Lindsey Bradley, and Misty Miller
 - City of Austin Amanda Rohlich and Edwin Marty
- Chicago, Cook County
 - Chicago Food Policy Action Council Marlie Wilson
 - Chicagoland Good Food Purchasing Initiative Amy O'Rourke, Gina
 Massuda-Barnett, Jennifer Herd, Jessica Walter, Kate McMahon, and Laura
 Nussbaum-Barberena
- Denver
 - City and County of Denver Laine Cidlowski, Lauren Howe, Lesly Baesens,
 Marion Kalb, and Wendy Smittick
 - o Denver Museum of Nature and Science Patrick Hartnett
 - o Denver Public Schools Theresa Peña
- Gainesville, Alachua County
 - o Alachua County Sean Mclendon
 - o Alachua County Public Schools Kelli Brew
 - o City of Gainesville Karissa Raskin
- Los Angeles
 - Los Angeles Food Policy Council Christine Tran
- New York City



- o New York City Department of Education Stephen O'Brien
- New York City Good Food Purchasing Coalition Christina Spach, Ribka Getachew, and Suzanne Adley
- New York City Mayor's Office of Food Policy Dylaney Bouwman, Kate MacKenzie, and Mandu Sen
- San Francisco Bay Area
 - o San Francisco Unified School District Alex Emmott
 - o SPUR Katie Ettman
- Washington, D.C.
 - o DC Greens Lea Howe



APPENDIX B: BIBLIOGRAPHY AND OTHER RESOURCES

Literature Review Bibliography

The following resources were used in our literature review and development of the analytic model for the impact calculators.

- Anderson, M. L., Gallagher, J., & Ramirez Ritchie, E. (2018). School meal quality and academic performance. *Journal of Public Economics*, 168, 81–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2018.09.013
- Becot, F., Conner, D., Imrie, D., & Ettman, K. (2016). Assessing the Impacts of Local Hospital Food Procurement: Results from Vermont. The Journal of Foodservice Management & Education, 10(1), 1–7. https://www.fsmec.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/10-1-Becot.pdf
- Boffetta, P., Elisabeth Couto, Janine Wichmann, Pietro Ferrari, Dimitrios Trichopoulos, H. B. B.-M., Fränzel J. B. van Duijnhoven, Frederike L. Büchner, Tim Key, Heiner Boeing, Ute Nöthlings, Jakob Linseisen, C. A. G., Kim Overvad, Michael R. S. Nielsen, Anne Tjønneland, Anja Olsen, Françoise Clavel-Chapelon, M.-C. B.-R., Sophie Morois, Pagona Lagiou, Androniki Naska, Vassiliki Benetou, Rudolf Kaaks, Sabine Rohrmann, Salvatore Panico, S. S., Paolo Vineis, Domenico Palli, Carla H. van Gils, Petra H. Peeters, Eiliv Lund, Magritt Brustad, Dagrun Engeset, J. M. H., Laudina Rodríguez, Maria-José Sánchez, Miren Dorronsoro, Aurelio Barricarte, Göran Hallmans, Ingegerd Johansson, J. M., Emily Sonestedt, Naomi E. Allen, Sheila Bingham, Kay-Tee Khaw, Nadia Slimani, Mazda Jenab, Traci Mouw, T. N., & Elio Riboli, A. T. (2010). Fruit and Vegetable Intake and Overall Cancer Risk in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Journal of the National Cancer Institution. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20371762/
- Bontrager Yoder, A. B., Liebhart, J. L., McCarty, D. J., Meinen, A., Schoeller, D., Vargas, C., & LaRowe, T. (2014). Farm to Elementary School Programming Increases Access to Fruits and Vegetables and Increases Their Consumption Among Those With Low Intake. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 46(5), 341–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2014.04.297
- Brown, A. W., Hall, K. D., Thomas, D., Dhurandhar, N. V., Heymsfield, S. B., & Allison, D. B. (2014). Order of magnitude misestimation of weight effects of children's meal policy proposals. In *Childhood Obesity* (Vol. 10, Issue 6, pp. 542–544). Mary Ann Liebert Inc. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2014.0081
- Chen, G. C., Lv, D. B., Pang, Z., & Liu, Q. F. (2013). Red and processed meat consumption and risk of stroke: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 67(1), 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2012.180
- Chriqui, J. F., Pickel, M., & Story, M. (2014). Influence of school competitive food and beverage policies on obesity, consumption, and availability: A systematic review. In JAMA Pediatrics



- (Vol. 168, Issue 3, pp. 279–286). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.4457
- Christensen, L., Jablonski, B., Stephens, L., & Joshi, A. (2018). Evaluating the Economic Impacts of Farm-to-school Procurement: An Approach for Primary and Secondary Financial Data Collection of Producers Selling to Schools. *Journal of Agriculture*, Food Systems, and Community Development, 73–94. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2019.08c.002
- Christensen, L. O., Jablonski, B. B. R., Stephens, L., & Joshi, A. (2017). Economic Impacts of Farm to School Case Studies and Assessment Tools Economic Impacts of Farm to School: Case Studies and Assessment Tools Acknowledgments.
- Clark, M. A., Springmann, M., Hill, J., & Tilman, D. (2019). Multiple health and environmental impacts of foods. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 116(46), 23357–23362. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1906908116
- Clark, M., & Tilman, D. (2017). Comparative analysis of environmental impacts of agricultural production systems, agricultural input efficiency, and food choice. *Environmental Research Letters*, 12. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa6cd5
- Dauchet, L., Amouyel, P., & Dallongeville, J. (2005). Fruit and vegetable consumption and risk of stroke: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Neurology*, 65(8), 1193–1197. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000180600.09719.53
- Dauchet, L., Amouyel, P., Hercberg, S., & Dallongeville, J. (2006). Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Risk of Coronary Heart Disease: A Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 136(10), 2588–2593. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/136.10.2588
- De Souza, R. G. M., Schincaglia, R. M., Pimente, G. D., & Mota, J. F. (2017). Nuts and human health outcomes: A systematic review. In *Nutrients* (Vol. 9, Issue 12, p. 1311). MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9121311
- Driessen, C. E., Cameron, A. J., Thornton, L. E., Lai, S. K., & Barnett, L. M. (2014). Effect of changes to the school food environment on eating behaviours and/or body weight in children: A systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*, 15(12), 968–982. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12224
- Ellison, R., Capper, A., Goldberg, R., Witschi JC, & Stare, F. (1989). The environmental component: changing school food service to promote cardiovascular health. *Health Education Quarterly*, 16(2), 285–297. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2732069
- Fitch, C., Santo, R., Clancy, K., Clinton, S., Delwiche, A., Isama, N., Kim, B., Lawrence, B., Martin, B., Mckenzie, S., Palmer, A., & Schwartz, D. (2016). Instituting Change: An Overview of Institutional Food Procurement and Recommendations for Improvement. https://clf.jhsph.edu/sites/default/files/2019-01/Instituting-change.pdf
- Gan, Y., Tong, X., Li, L., Cao, S., Yin, X., Gao, C., Herath, C., Li, W., Jin, Z., Chen, Y., & Lu, Z. (2015). Consumption of fruit and vegetable and risk of coronary heart disease: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 183, 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.01.077
- Gase, L. N., Kuo, T., Dunet, D., Schmidt, S. M., Simon, P. A., & Fielding, J. E. (2011). Estimating the Potential Health Impact and Costs of Implementing a Local Policy for Food Procurement to Reduce the Consumption of Sodium in the County of Los Angeles. American Journal of



- Public Health, 101(8), 1501-1507. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH
- Gunter, A., & Thilmany, D. (2012, January 12). Economic Implications of Farm to School for a Rural Colorado Community. Rural Connections, 13–16.

 http://www.farmtoschool.org/resources-main/rural-connections-economic-implications-of-farm-to-school-for-a-rural-colorado-community
- Hall, K. D., Sacks, G., Chandramohan, D., Chow, C. C., Wang, Y. C., Gortmaker, S. L., & Swinburn, B. A. (2011). Quantification of the effect of energy imbalance on bodyweight. In *The Lancet* (Vol. 378, Issue 9793, pp. 826–837). Lancet Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60812-X
- Hall, K., Gortmaker, S., Lott, M., & Wang, Y. (2016). From Calories to Weight Change in Children and Adults: The State of the Science. www.rwjf.org.
- Hamerschlag, K., & Kraus-Polk, J. (2017). Water Footprint of School Food: A Recipe for Combating Climate Change.
- He, F. J., Nowson, C. A., Lucas, M., & MacGregor, G. A. (2007). Increased consumption of fruit and vegetables is related to a reduced risk of coronary heart disease: Meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 21(9), 717–728. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jhh.1002212
- He, Feng J., Nowson, C. A., & MacGregor, G. A. (2006). Fruit and vegetable consumption and stroke: Meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Lancet*, 367(9507), 320–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68069-0
- Heller, M. C., Willits-Smith, A., Meyer, R., Keoleian, G. A., & Rose, D. (2018). Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use associated with production of individual self-selected US diets. Environmental Research Letters, 13(4). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aab0ac
- Hoekstra, A. Y. (2016). A critique on the water-scarcity weighted water footprint in LCA. *Ecological Indicators*, 66, 564–573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.02.026
- Hughes, D. W. (2018). A Primer in Economic Multipliers and Impact Analysis Using Input-Output Models.
- Jaime, P. C., & Lock, K. (2009). Do school based food and nutrition policies improve diet and reduce obesity? In *Preventive Medicine* (Vol. 48, Issue 1, pp. 45–53). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.10.018
- Joshipura, K. J., Hu, F. B., Manson, J. E., Stampfer, M. J., Rimm, E. B., Speizer, F. E., Colditz, G., Ascherio, A., Rosner, B., Spiegelman, D., & Willett, W. C. (2001). The effect of fruit and vegetable intake on risk for coronary heart disease. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 134(12), 1106–1114. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-134-12-200106190-00010
- Kaluza, J., Wolk, A., & Larsson, S. C. (2012). Red meat consumption and risk of stroke: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. Stroke, 43(10), 2556–2560. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.663286
- Kane, D., Kruse, S., Ratcliffe, M. M., Sobell, S. A., & Tessman, N. (2010). The Impact of Seven Cents: Examining the Effects of a 0.07 per Meal Investment on Local Economic Development, Lunch Participation Rates, and Student Preferences for Fruits & Development, Vegetables in Two Oregon School



- Districts. https://ecotrust.org/media/7-Cents-Report_FINAL_110630.pdf
- Lagasse, L., & Neff, R. (2010). Balanced Menus: A Pilot Evaluation of Implementation in Four San Francisco Bay Area Hospitals.
 - https://noharm-uscanada.org/documents/balanced-menus-pilot-evaluation-implementation-four-san-francisco-bay-area-hospitals
- Leidig, R. (2012). The Johns Hopkins Center for a Livable Future: Sodexo Meatless Monday Survey Results. www.jhsph.edu/clf3
- Lin, B. H., Smith, T. A., Lee, J. Y., & Hall, K. D. (2011). Measuring weight outcomes for obesity intervention strategies: The case of a sugar-sweetened beverage tax. Economics and Human Biology, 9(4), 329–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehb.2011.08.007
- Lynch, J., Meter, K., Robles-Schrader, G., Goldenberg, M. P., Bassler, E., Chusid, S., & Austin, C. J. (2015). Exploring Economic and Health Impacts of Local Food Procurement Research Team. https://www.crcworks.org/EHimpacts.pdf
- Mekonnen, M. M., & Hoekstra, A. Y. (2011). The green, blue and grey water footprint of crops and derived crop products. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 15(5), 1577–1600. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-15-1577-2011
- Mekonnen, Mesfin M., & Hoekstra, A. Y. (2012). A Global Assessment of the Water Footprint of Farm Animal Products. Ecosystems, 15(3), 401–415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-011-9517-8
- Miller, S. R., Mann, J., Barry, J., Kalchik, T., Pirog, R., & Hamm, M. W. (2015). A Replicable Model for Valuing Local Food Systems. *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*, 47(4), 441–461. https://doi.org/10.1017/aae.2015.19
- Muraki, I., Imamura, F., Manson, J. E., Hu, F. B., Willett, W. C., Van Dam, R. M., & Sun, Q. (2013). Fruit consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: Results from three prospective longitudinal cohort studies. *BMJ* (Online), 347(7923). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f5001
- Niebylski, M. L., Lu, T., Campbell, N. R. C., Arcand, J., Schermel, A., Hua, D., Yeates, K. E., Tobe, S. W., Twohig, P. A., L'Abbé, M. R., & Liu, P. P. (2014). Healthy food procurement policies and their impact. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(3), 2608–2627. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110302608
- Oude Griep, L. M., Geleijnse, J. M., Kromhout, D., Ocké, M. C., & Monique Verschuren, W. M. (2010). Raw and processed fruit and vegetable consumption and 10-year coronary heart disease incidence in a population-based cohort study in the Netherlands. *PLoS ONE*, 5(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013609
- Oyebode, O., Gordon-Dseagu, V., Walker, A., & Mindell, J. S. (2014). Fruit and vegetable consumption and all-cause, cancer and CVD mortality: Analysis of health survey for England data. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 68(9), 856–862. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2013-203500
- Pesch, R. (2014). Assessing the Potential Farm-to -Institution Market in Central and Northeast Minnesota. https://www.fsmec.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/10-1-Becot.pdf Poore, J., & Nemecek, T. (2018). Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers



- and consumers. Science, 360(6392), 987–992. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaq0216
- Roche, E., Becot, F., Kolodinsky, J., & Conner, D. (2016). Economic Contribution and Potential Impact of Local Food Purchases Made by Vermont Schools.

 https://agriculture.vermont.gov/sites/agriculture/files/documents/Farm_to_School_I
 - https://agriculture.vermont.gov/sites/agriculture/files/documents/Farm_to_School_l nstitution/Economic Contribution of Farm to School in Vermont .pdf
- Saksvig, B. I., Gittelsohn, J., Harris, S. B., Hanley, A. J. G., Valente, T. W., & Zinman, B. (2005). A Pilot School-Based Healthy Eating and Physical Activity Intervention Improves Diet, Food Knowledge, and Self-Efficacy forNative Canadian Children. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 135(10), 2392–2398. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/135.10.2392
- Schwingshackl, L., Schwedhelm, C., Hoffmann, G., Knüppel, S., Iqbal, K., Andriolo, V., Bechthold, A., Schlesinger, S., & Boeing, H. (2017). Food Groups and Risk of Hypertension: A Systematic Review and Dose-Response Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal, 8(6), 793–803. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.117.017178
- Searchinger, T. D., Wirsenius, S., Beringer, T., & Dumas, P. (2018). Assessing the efficiency of changes in land use for mitigating climate change. *Nature*, 564(7735), 249–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0757-z
- Searchinger, T., Waite, R., Hanson, C., & Ranganathan, J. (2019). Creating a Sustainable Food Future. World Resources Report, 1(July), 558. www.SustainableFoodFuture.org.
- Shideler, D., & Watson, P. (2019). Making Change through Local Food Production: Calculating the Economic Impact of Your Local Food Project. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development, 8(January), 1–13.* https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2019.08c.011
- Steinmetz, K. A., & Potter, J. D. (1996). Vegetables, fruit, and cancer prevention: A review. In *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* (Vol. 96, Issue 10, pp. 1027–1039). W.B. Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(96)00273-8
- Thilmany McFadden, D., Conner, D., Deller, S., Hughes, D., Meter, K., Morales, A., Schmit, T., Swenson, D., Bauman, A., Phillips Goldenberg, M., Hill, R., Jablonski, B. B. R., & Tropp, D. (2016). The Economics of Local Food Systems A Toolkit to Guide Community Discussions, Assessments and Choices.
- Tuck, B., Haynes, M., King, R., & Pesch, R. (2010). The Economic Impact of Farm-to-School Lunch Programs: A Central Minnesota Example.

 https://extension.umn.edu/community-research/farm-school-lunch-programs-central-minnesota-example
- Van Duyn, M. A. S., & Pivonka, E. (2000). Overview of the health benefits of fruit and vegetable consumption for the dietetics professional: Selected literature. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 100(12), 1511–1521. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(00)00420-X
- Wang, X., Lin, X., Ouyang, Y. Y., Liu, J., Zhao, G., Pan, A., & Hu, F. B. (2015). Red and processed meat consumption and mortality: dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Public Health Nutrition*, 19(5), 893–905. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980015002062



- Waters, H., & Graf, M. (2018). The Cost of Chronic Diseases in the U.S.
- Watson, P., Cooke, S., Kay, D., Alward, G., & Morales, A. (2017). A method for evaluating the economic contribution of a local food system. *Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 42(2), 180–194. https://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.257997
- Zong, G., Gao, A., Hu, F. B., & Sun, Q. (2016). Whole grain intake and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer. *Circulation*, 133(24), 2370–2380. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.021101

Other Resources

The following resources were used to develop the final calculator methodologies, "social math" equivalents, and impact statistics.

- American Heart Association. (2020). Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2020 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. 141, e139–e596. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.000000000000757
- Clark, M. A., Springmann, M., Hill, J., & Tilman, D. (2019). Multiple health and environmental impacts of foods. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 116(46), 23357–23362. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1906908116
- Center for American Progress. (2021). Unions Help Increase Wealth for All and Close Racial Wealth Gaps.
 - https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/reports/2021/09/06/503272/unions-help-increase-wealth-close-racial-wealth-gaps/?utm_medium=email&utm_source=amprog_en&utm_campaign=default&utm_content=ecn+rpt+01+20210907+labor-day-send+grp+1+x
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Incidence of Newly Diagnosed Diabetes. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statistics-report/newly-diagnosed-diabetes.html
- Costa, D. & Martin, P. (2020). How much would it cost consumers to give farmworkers a significant raise? *Economic Policy Institute*.
 - https://www.epi.org/blog/how-much-would-it-cost-consumers-to-give-farmworkers-a-significant-raise-a-40-increase-in-pay-would-cost-just-25-per-household/
- Hayut, I. (2014, February 20). Retailers' average vegetables markup 41.7%. Globes. https://en.globes.co.il/en/article-retailers-average-vegetables-markup-417-100091874 6
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (2020). Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 (GBD 2019) Results. Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. Retrieved from http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool.
- IPM Institute of North America, Inc. (n.d.). Pesticide Risk Tool. https://pesticiderisk.org/



- Martin, P. L. (2017). Immigration and Farm Labor: Challenges and Opportunities. University of California: Giannini Foundation of Agricultural Economics. P29.

 https://s.giannini.ucop.edu/uploads/giannini_public/dd/d9/ddd90bf0-2bf0-41ea-bc 29-28c5e4e9b049/immigration_and_farm_labor_-_philip_martin.pdf
- Nadeau, C. (2020). New Living Wage Data for Now Available on the Tool. MIT Living Wage Calculator.
 - https://livingwage.mit.edu/articles/61-new-living-wage-data-for-now-available-on-the-tool
- National Cancer Institute. (n.d.). Cancer Stat Facts: Colorectal Cancer. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/colorect.html
- National Center for Education Statistics. (n.d.). Number and percentage of public school students eligible for free or reduced-price lunch, by state: Selected years, 2000-01 through 2018-19. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d20/tables/dt20_204.10.asp
- National Equity Atlas. (2021). Fewer and Fewer Small Businesses Are Getting Federal Contracts. https://nationalequityatlas.org/federalcontracts
- Poore, J. & Nemecek, T. (2018). Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers. Science, 360(6392), 987-992.

 https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.aaq0216 (North American factors collected via correspondence with subject matter experts)
- Rosettie, K. L., Micha, R., Cudhea, F., Peñalvo, J. L., O'Flaherty, M., et al. (2018). Comparative risk assessment of school food environment policies and childhood diets, childhood obesity, and future cardiometabolic mortality in the United States. *PLOS ONE 13*(7): e0200378. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200378
- The Darwin Challenge. (n.d.). The Darwin Challenge Multipliers. https://www.thedarwinchallenge.org/metrics
- U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. (2018). Annual Gross Domestic Product by State and County. Retrieved from https://www.bea.gov/data/gdp.
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2018). Quarterly Census on Employment and Wages by State and County. Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/cew/.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2020). American Community Survey. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2017). North American Industry Classification System. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/naics/.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2019). Quick Facts. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/PST045219.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2019). Economic Research Service Price Spreads from Farm to Consumer. Retrieved from https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/price-spreads-from-farm-to-consumer/price-spreads-from-farm-to-consumer/#Fresh%20fruit.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2019). Economic Research Service Labor Cost Share of Total



- Gross Revenues. Retrieved from
- https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/farm-economy/farm-labor/.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2019). National Agricultural Statistics Service. Retrieved from https://www.nass.usda.gov/Quick_Stats/.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (n.d.). Greenhouse Gases Equivalencies Calculator Calculations and References. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gases-equivalencies-calculator-calculations -and-references.
- Water Research Foundation. (2016). Residential End Uses of Water, Version 2: Executive Report. https://www.circleofblue.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/WRF_REU2016.pdf
- Waters, H. and M. Graf. (2018). The Costs of Chronic Disease in the US. The Milken Institute. https://milkeninstitute.org/sites/default/files/reports-pdf/ChronicDiseases-HighRes-FINAL.pdf
- Whole Foods Market. (2017). Whole Foods Responsibly Grown Prohibited and Restricted Pesticides Policy for Produce and Flowers.

 https://assets.wholefoodsmarket.com/www/missions-values/Responsibly-Grown/201 60926-WFM-Responsibly-Grown-Prohibited-and%20Restricted-Pesticides-for-Fresh-Pr oduce-and-Flowers.pdf
- World Resources Institute. (n.d.). Cool Food Pledge Calculator. https://coolfood.org/pledge/